



Table of Contents

Introduction	2
Strategic Objectives	2
Implementation Framework	
Institutional Structure and Governance	
Theory of Change and Programme Integration	5
Integration with Major Programmes and DESA instruments	
Programme Integration and Alignment with Agenda 2074 and Agenda 2063	7
Financial and Resource Model	<u>C</u>
Monitoring, Evaluation, and Compliance (MEC)	10
Risk Management and Sustainability Strategy	11
Alignment with GSIA and DESA	12
DESA policy and operational instruments (the delivery stack).	
GSIA-DESA operating compact for IAT-EIP.	
Final Word	14



Intra-African Trade and Economic Integration Project

Introduction

The Intra-African Trade and Economic Integration Project is constituted as a structural instrument to accelerate cross-border trade facilitation, standards harmonization, and value-chain integration across Regional Economic Communities (RECs). Its mandate is expressly aligned with the fifty-year trajectory of Agenda for Social Equity 2074, framing trade not merely as a transactional activity but as a lawful vehicle for shared prosperity, institutional resilience, and intergenerational equity. By reducing procedural barriers, expanding SME participation, and embedding social safeguards into trade governance, IAT-EIP operationalizes the normative commitments of Agenda 2063 and the African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA), while leveraging the enabling architecture of SDEP to overcome systemic delays in the Tripartite Free Trade Area (TFTA) between COMESA, EAC, and SADC. The programme integrates DESA policy instruments and GSIA governance protocols to ensure that trade liberalization is accompanied by transparency, compliance, and equitable distribution of gains across all population groups.

Strategic Objectives

The strategic objectives of IAT-EIP are declaratory and enforceable, harmonized with continental trade frameworks and operationalized through DSEP technology standards and DESA governance instruments:

- 1. **To reduce transaction costs and clearance delays** by institutionalizing single-window systems, risk-based inspections, and digital documentation platforms under lawful protocols, thereby improving corridor reliability and competitiveness.
- 2. **To harmonize customs procedures and technical standards** across RECs, embedding compliance with AfCFTA and TFTA instruments, and ensuring interoperability through DESA's DLRP and DGMP frameworks.
- 3. To expand inclusive market access for SMEs, farmers, and cooperatives, integrating lawful finance pathways and capacity-building under DMAP and DTVET, and guaranteeing affordability safeguards and anti-discrimination clauses.
- 4. **To build resilient regional value chains** in staple foods, essential goods, and green technologies, leveraging ETI for infrastructure, SAP for agriculture, and TFT for digital connectivity, ensuring that trade gains are equitably distributed and climate-conscious.
- 5. **To institutionalize transparency and dispute resolution mechanisms** through GSIA-accredited governance compacts, public dashboards, and independent verification, ensuring that trade facilitation is auditable and aligned with Agenda 2074's equity canon.

Implementation Framework

The implementation framework is structured as a sequenced, compliance-anchored programme that converts trade facilitation from a set of aspirations into binding institutional duties across the Tripartite Free Trade Area (TFTA) space and the AfCFTA ecosystem. Sequence and content are expressly



harmonized with AfCFTA legal instruments (including Rules of Origin) and the WTO Trade Facilitation Agreement (TFA), and are operationalized through SDEP to overcome the chronic execution lags that have slowed TFTA activation.

Phase I — Corridor diagnostics and baseline setting. Baseline Time-Release Studies and corridor assessments establish legally referenced targets for clearance times, documentary requirements, and logistics reliability, drawing on AfCFTA rules/annexes for origin verification and on WCO guidance for origin administration and risk frameworks. Outputs include geo-referenced maps of bottlenecks, inventory of non-tariff measures, and a compliance matrix aligned with AfCFTA Annex 2 (Rules of Origin) and TFA Section I obligations.

Phase II — **Procedural redesign and legal harmonization.** National and REC measures are harmonized to a single set of TFTA/AfCFTA-consistent procedures: electronic single windows, risk-based inspections, pre-arrival processing, mutual recognition of controls, and aligned documentary data sets. The legal and operational basis references WTO TFA Article 10.4 on single windows and associated WCO/UNCTAD compendia, with SDEP supplying the business process re-engineering, data models, and control-tower dashboards.

Phase III — **Digitization and systems interconnection.** SDEP deploys interoperable digital platforms for e-customs, e-certification and traceability, end-to-end transit management, and trader self-service portals. Interoperability follows REC precedents (EAC Single Customs Territory interconnectivity; COMESA OSBPs and Regional Customs Transit Guarantee Scheme), and scales toward regional single-window interconnection on UNECE Rec-33 principles.

Phase IV — **Border processes and corridor operations.** Operational reforms consolidate into OSBPs, corridor management groups, and integrated inspection regimes. COMESA's Chirundu OSBP model, harmonized road/axle-load regimes, and the RCTG-Carnet for transit guarantees are replicated along priority routes to reduce stops, duplications, and bond costs. EAC metrics evidencing the reduction of Mombasa–Kampala and Mombasa–Kigali transit times are adopted as corridor KPIs for the Tripartite network.

Phase V — Value-chain activation and AfCFTA digital trade alignment. Once physical and procedural frictions are reduced, the programme activates regional value chains (staple foods, essential goods, green technologies) using AfCFTA-conform rules of origin and the new Digital Trade Protocol to enable e-invoicing, e-payments, digital identities, and paperless trade. SDEP's data layer is aligned with the AfCFTA Digital Trade Protocol and its eight annexes (cross-border data, payments, digital IDs, source-code disclosure criteria, etc.) to ensure lawful and trusted cross-border digital transactions for SMEs and cooperatives.

Phase VI — **Scale-up under TFTA entry into force and AfDB corridor finance.** With the TFTA now in force (25 July 2024) across an expanding set of Tripartite States, scale-up prioritizes multi-country corridors financed through AfDB regional integration strategies, blending "hard" infrastructure with "soft" facilitation to lock in time and cost reductions. Corridor governance embeds performance-based clauses and public dashboards; AfDB corridor initiatives and trade-facilitation operations serve as preferred co-financing vehicles.

Institutional Structure and Governance

Governance is layered to ensure legal certainty, neutrality, and enforceability, and to integrate TFTA, AfCFTA, and REC regimes with national execution.



Continental and Tripartite layer. At the continental level, AfCFTA legal texts (Protocols, Annexes and RoO Manual) provide the normative backbone for market integration, rules of origin, and (now) digital trade. The Tripartite Agreement—now in force—establishes the legal framework for market integration among COMESA, EAC, and SADC and mandates coherence of customs, standards, and trade-related policies across the 29 participating States. IAT-EIP's policies and corridor rules are drafted to be simultaneously compliant with AfCFTA and the Tripartite Agreement to avoid fragmentation.

REC coordination layer.

- COMESA: The Trade Facilitation Programme (OSBPs, RCTG-Carnet, carrier's licence, axle-load harmonization) serves as the operational template for corridor process integration and transit security, with a Regional Single Window under development to enable cross-border re-use of electronic permits and certificates.
- **EAC:** The Single Customs Territory regime institutionalizes upstream assessment/payment and interconnected customs systems, with demonstrated reductions in corridor transit times and costs; its instruments are incorporated into Tripartite corridor standard operating procedures.
- **SADC:** The Industrialization Strategy and Roadmap (2015–2063) and its costed Action Plan provide the value-chain and competitiveness framework into which trade facilitation reforms are embedded, ensuring that simplification and harmonization directly feed industrial development and SME participation.

National execution layer. National Implementation Units within customs and trade ministries are mandated to transpose corridor procedures into national law, maintain single-window connections, and operate risk-management and post-clearance audit. National Trade Facilitation Committees created under the TFA serve as the statutory multi-stakeholder platforms for policy coherence, publication of procedures, and grievance redress.

Corridor and border governance. Joint Corridor Committees comprising REC directorates, customs and standards agencies, port authorities, and private-sector operators manage day-to-day performance, incident resolution, and KPI review. One-Stop Border Post authorities operate under bilateral instruments but report to the Corridor Committee on queue times, inspection rates, and integrity incidents. RCTG guarantors and insurers participate as associate members to accelerate transit bond processing and claims.

Transparency and dispute resolution. Public dashboards report clearance times, dwell times, NTB cases, and compliance rates; disputes on origin, valuation, and transit are escalated through REC procedures and, where applicable, AfCFTA dispute-settlement channels, while TFTA provisions apply within the Tripartite scope. Digital trade disputes arising from cross-border data transfers, payments, and digital identity are addressed under the AfCFTA Digital Trade Protocol annexes once domesticated.

Financing and oversight. Corridor investment and "soft" facilitation reforms are co-financed through AfDB regional integration windows and corridor programmes; AfDB's corridor reports and RISP commitments supply the monitoring architecture for performance-based disbursement and for aligning industrial/value-chain milestones with trade-facilitation gains.

This institutional schema ensures that SDEP acts as the operational accelerator: it standardizes diagnostics, digitization, skills, and QA/QC across all participating agencies; it binds TFTA and AfCFTA commitments to verifiable corridor performance; and it provides the legal-operational bridge that moves integration beyond policy into day-to-day trade practice.



Theory of Change and Programme Integration

The Intra-African Trade and Economic Integration Project is premised on a legally articulated theory of change that treats trade facilitation and value-chain integration as enforceable public duties rather than aspirational reforms. The central hypothesis is that measurable reductions in time, cost, and uncertainty along priority corridors—and the diffusion of those gains to SMEs, farmers, and cooperatives—occur when four conditions are jointly secured and publicly verified: first, normative alignment to AfCFTA/TFTA legal instruments and the WTO Trade Facilitation Agreement (TFA); second, procedural harmonization and digitization through single windows, risk-based controls, and interoperable transit and origin systems; third, corridor-level governance and finance that fuse "hard" and "soft" interventions and hold operators to performance compacts; and fourth, data transparency and dispute resolution that give traders predictable remedies and sustain compliance over time.

Under this construct, SDEP is the enabling chassis that converts continental and Tripartite commitments into day-to-day practice: it standardizes diagnostics (time-release studies and NTB inventories), digitizes processes (single window, e-certificates, e-payments), institutionalizes accredited skills for border and standards agencies, and publishes open corridor dashboards for independent verification. By design, SDEP addresses the execution deficit that has delayed TFTA activation; it makes AfCFTA and TFTA obligations operational through interoperable data, accredited human capital, and QA/QC that are the same on both sides of a border.

Normative alignment and legal certainty. At the apex, AfCFTA legal texts (including Annex 2 on Rules of Origin and the operational RoO Manual) establish the continental rule-set for preferential market access, origin certification, and verification procedures, which IAT-EIP adopts as the default to avoid overlapping or contradictory REC regimes. The Tripartite Agreement—now in force since 25 July 2024—provides the regional legal scaffolding for COMESA, EAC, and SADC to operate as a coherent market; IAT-EIP instruments are written to be simultaneously compliant with AfCFTA and TFTA provisions (publication of procedures, enquiry points, single-window endeavours, risk management), ensuring that national transposition does not fragment corridor practice.

Procedural harmonization and digital execution. The programme's causal pathway requires that traders submit data once and receive integrated decisions—a TFA Article 10.4 requirement—achieved through national/REC single windows interoperating at corridor level. The EAC Single Customs Territory shows the feasibility of upstream assessment/payment and interconnected customs systems, with documented reductions in Mombasa—inland transit times and costs; COMESA's OSBP model and the RCTG-Carnet demonstrate how one stop controls and a single regional transit guarantee reduce duplications and bond costs; these proven instruments are codified as minimum operating standards for Tripartite corridors.

Digitization extends to origin and transit: SDEP's data layer incorporates AfCFTA Rules of Origin data elements and workflows, supported by WCO practical guidance for origin administration and verification. With the adoption of the AfCFTA Digital Trade Protocol and its eight annexes (digital IDs, cross-border digital payments, cross-border data transfers, online safety, and related areas), IAT-EIP further enables lawful e-invoicing, paperless trade, and trusted cross-border payments—critical for SME participation in continental value chains.

Corridor governance and blended finance. Trade gains materialize only when "hard" connectivity (roads, rail, ports, OSBPs) and "soft" facilitation (procedures, systems, skills) move together under a single performance compact. IAT-EIP therefore couples AfDB corridor finance—anchored in Regional



Integration Strategy Papers and the Bank's corridor programmes—with binding corridor KPIs (clearance times, dwell times, transit reliability, inspection rates, SME usage) and public dashboards. AfDB documentation shows that cross-border corridors, when paired with facilitation reforms, cut transaction costs and unlock intra-African trade; those lessons are embedded in IAT-EIP's disbursement-linked indicators and joint corridor committees.

Dispute resolution, transparency, and compliance. Sustained trader confidence requires rapid remedies for origin, valuation, and transit disputes and for digital trade issues (data flows, payments). IAT-EIP maps escalation paths through REC procedures, AfCFTA dispute settlement (for continental matters), and TFTA mechanisms (for Tripartite scope), while TFA transparency obligations (publication/online access to procedures) are enforced via SDEP's portals. Corridor scorecards publish KPI trajectories; non-performance triggers corrective action plans and, where necessary, sanctions embedded in concession or performance contracts.

Integration with Major Programmes and DESA instruments.

• **SDEP** supplies diagnostics, single window and e-customs stacks, traceability, and accredited training to border, port, standards, and corridor staff. * ETI finances/standardizes the infrastructure side (OSBPs, rail/road links, dry ports). * TFT/DBIP deliver broadband and secure data pipes for paperless trade and risk engines. * DMAP activates SME access to corridors, marketplace integration, and compliance-ready onboarding. * DLRP/DPFIP/DGMP hard-wire legal harmonization, open contracting, beneficial-ownership disclosure, and digital case-management across customs and standards agencies. The ensemble ensures that facilitation gains are not cancelled by governance or integrity deficits.

From inputs to outcomes: the causal chain.

Inputs comprise AfCFTA/TFTA/TFA-aligned legal instruments; SDEP platforms and data standards; OSBP/transport assets; AfDB corridor finance; and accredited skills. Activities include corridor TRS diagnostics; NTB resolution; single-window roll-outs; RCTG expansion; origin/verification capacity building; and REC-level SOPs. Outputs are interoperable systems (pre-arrival, risk-based, paperless), functioning OSBPs, mutual recognition of controls, and live public dashboards. Outcomes are documented reductions in clearance times and costs, higher compliance rates, and measurable increases in SME corridor usage and cross-border transactions. The long-term impact is resilient regional value chains in food, essentials, and green technologies, with equitable distribution of gains—tracked by corridor scorecards and verified by independent audits.

Why this theory is credible (external evidence).

Empirical and normative sources converge on the same levers. The TFA codifies single windows, publication duties, and cooperation that reduce red tape and corruption risks; WCO/UNCTAD guidance details the implementation pathway from customs automation to full trade digitalization and risk management; EAC SCT results demonstrate large and persistent time/cost reductions when interconnectivity and upstream clearance are adopted; COMESA's RCTG and OSBPs show how regional guarantees and shared control zones remove duplications; the AfCFTA Digital Trade Protocol completes the legal infrastructure for paperless trade and interoperable payments; and AfDB corridor programmes document the compounding effect of coupling infrastructure with facilitation. IAT-EIP institutionalizes these findings as declaratory obligations and ties them to public reporting to convert policy into practice.



SDEP as TFTA accelerator.

Finally, the programme treats SDEP as the de-facto execution engine for the Tripartite: (i) it supplies uniform diagnostics and KPIs across three RECs; (ii) it implements interoperable single windows and risk engines that satisfy TFA 10.4 and pre-arrival standards; (iii) it deploys origin/traceability modules aligned with AfCFTA Annex 2; and (iv) it enables lawful digital trade under the AfCFTA Digital Trade Protocol (IDs, payments, data). In short, SDEP removes the operational friction that has kept TFTA "on paper", allowing Tripartite integration to advance at corridor speed while remaining fully consistent with AfCFTA's continental architecture.

Programme Integration and Alignment with Agenda 2074 and Agenda 2063

This chapter records the formal alignment of the Intra-African Trade and Economic Integration Project (IAT-EIP) with the SLUC Major Programmes beyond SDEP, and with continental frameworks under Agenda for Social Equity 2074 and Agenda 2063. It converts high-level aspirations into enforceable, interoperable duties by specifying how each Major Programme supplies a distinct enabling function for trade facilitation, standards harmonisation, corridor performance, and equitable distribution of gains.

Alignment with SLUC Major Programmes (beyond SDEP).

The operational premise is that trade outcomes are contingent on parallel progress in human capital, infrastructure, technology, standards, environmental stewardship, and SME enablement. IAT-EIP therefore binds corridor KPIs and disbursement tests to deliverables drawn from the Major Programmes, so that hard and soft reforms advance together and remain auditable.

- TFT Technology for Tomorrow. TFT provides the legal-tech stack and systems governance for paperless trade: single windows, risk-based controls, e-certification, and secure data exchange. Compliance is benchmarked against WTO TFA Article 10.4 (single window) and associated WCO/UN guidance; at continental level, TFT is expressly aligned with the AfCFTA Digital Trade Protocol and its annexes on digital identities, cross-border payments and data transfers, and online safety, enabling lawful, trusted digital transactions for SMEs and cooperatives.
- ETI Empowerment through Infrastructure. ETI synchronises corridor-critical investments
 (OSBPs, ports, rail, dry ports, roads) with the "soft" facilitation schedule, so that capacity
 additions translate into time and cost reductions recorded on corridor dashboards. This mirrors
 AfDB's corridor approach, which couples infrastructure with facilitation to unlock market
 access and reduce transaction costs across regional value chains.
- DTVET/EVHEI Skills and Higher-Level Competences. DTVET guarantees an accredited pipeline of customs, standards, and logistics professionals trained on risk management, origin administration, and post-clearance audit; EVHEI creates advanced tracks (data science for risk engines, trade law and RoO, corridor governance). These tracks are aligned with the AfCFTA Rules of Origin Manual and WCO implementation guidance to ensure that human capital can lawfully administer preferences and verification.
- **EEN Educational Enrichment Network.** EEN ensures foundational and digital literacy for traders and border-community youth, supporting SME onboarding to single windows and e-payments under the AfCFTA digital trade framework. EEN deliverables (digital skills modules, trader literacy kits) are tied to TFA publication and enquiry-point obligations to improve transparency and rule-awareness among new market entrants.



- DMAP Market Activation. DMAP codifies lawful entry points for MSMEs to corridor markets
 (transparent licensing, onboarding to trusted-trader regimes, marketplace interoperability),
 and aligns with AfCFTA/TFTA measures on market integration and with the Digital Trade
 Protocol for e-invoicing and cross-border payments. Corridor KPIs therefore track not only
 time/cost but also SME utilisation rates and survival along priority chains.
- DPFIP/DGMP/DLRP Finance Integrity, Governance Modernisation, and Legal Harmonisation. These DESA instruments provide the fiduciary and legal spine for facilitation: open contracting and beneficial-ownership disclosure in corridor concessions and ICT procurements; digital case-management for NTBs and origin disputes; and legislative transpositions that ensure AfCFTA/TFTA/TFA measures have domestic legal force.
- SAP Sustainable Agriculture for Prosperity. SAP integrates staple-food value chains into
 corridor planning (SPS conformity, cold-chain nodes, aggregation centres) to reduce
 post-harvest losses and border-hold risks. It relies on harmonised trade rules (origin, standards)
 under AfCFTA and TFTA so that food trade benefits from predictable preferences and
 streamlined controls.
- **EESG Economic Empowerment for Sustainable Growth.** EESG links corridor participation to finance instruments (e.g., trade finance, working-capital lines) and measures SME uptake of digital payments under the AfCFTA digital annexes, so that procedural gains convert into bankable growth.
- **ESA Environmental Stewardship Alliance.** ESA hard-wires climate resilience and environmental compliance into corridor investments and operations (climate-resilient pavements, energy-efficient OSBPs, green logistics), aligning with AfDB's documentation on resilient highways and one-stop border infrastructure across corridors.
- CPIP Cultural Preservation and Innovation Programme. CPIP supports lawful branding and origin-linked marketing (geographical indications/identity assets) within AfCFTA ROO frameworks, improving traceability, authenticity, and value capture along creative and specialty-goods chains.

Compact integration: In practice, TFT/ETI/DTVET/DMAP deliver the "single submission, single decision" state for traders; DPFIP/DGMP/DLRP assure lawful finance, procurement, and dispute handling; SAP/EESG/ESA/CPIP ensure that value-chain activation is inclusive, climate-conscious, and reputationally sound. These deliverables are locked to corridor scorecards so they become enforceable obligations rather than discretionary add-ons.

Alignment with Agenda for Social Equity 2074.

IAT-EIP adopts Agenda 2074's equity canon and fifty-year mandate as a compliance frame. Equity conditions are embedded directly into trade architecture: single-window access, SME onboarding, grievance redress, affordability of digital services, and gender/youth participation in corridor governance. Public dashboards disclose disaggregated participation and benefit-sharing; sanction regimes attach to non-performance. This renders market integration an intergenerational duty, not a transient policy. (Internal reference: Agenda for Social Equity 2074).

Alignment with Agenda 2063 and its flagship AfCFTA.

Agenda 2063's Aspirations on integration, good governance, prosperity, and youth/women's empowerment are operationalised by treating the **AfCFTA** as the controlling continental instrument for



market, standards, and now **digital** integration, while recognising TFTA as a regional building block. The project maps corridor SOPs to AfCFTA legal texts (trade in goods, rules of origin) and, for digital trade, to the **Protocol on Digital Trade** and its annexes; the result is a unified regime for paperless trade, trusted identities, and interoperable payments. This is consistent with Agenda 2063's direction to advance a continent-wide market through RECs and the AfCFTA. [au.int], [afdb.org], [africanlii.org]

Tripartite acceleration through SDEP within the AfCFTA frame.

With the TFTA in force (25 July 2024), SDEP is deployed as the execution engine that harmonises COMESA, EAC, and SADC practice to TFA/AfCFTA standards—leveraging **EAC SCT** interconnectivity and **COMESA** OSBP/RCTG precedents to convert Tripartite provisions into live corridor performance, while remaining fully consistent with the AfCFTA's continental legal architecture.

Financial and Resource Model

The financial architecture of the Intra-African Trade and Economic Integration Project (IAT-EIP) is constituted to ensure predictability, transparency, and resilience across the Tripartite (COMESA–EAC–SADC) space and the AfCFTA ecosystem. Financing is blended under enforceable governance and fiduciary standards, with disbursements and private participation conditioned on corridor performance and lawful compliance.

Public allocations are institutionalized through statutory budget lines at national and REC levels and harmonized with Agenda 2063 implementation arrangements for market integration and industrial development. These allocations are embedded in medium-term expenditure frameworks to prevent volatility and to guarantee continuity of trade facilitation reforms, in line with AfCFTA legal texts and Tripartite provisions on cooperation and harmonization.

Development finance is mobilized through African Development Bank instruments for regional integration and corridors, combining "hard" connectivity (roads, rail, ports, OSBPs) with "soft" facilitation (procedural reform, systems, skills). AfDB's corridor practice documents the reduction of transaction costs when infrastructure is coupled with trade facilitation measures; IAT-EIP therefore adopts AfDB's Regional Integration Strategy Papers and corridor programmes as preferred co-financing vehicles, with disbursement-linked indicators (DLIs) tied to clearance times, dwell times, risk-based inspection rates, and SME usage.

Private capital is structured through public-private partnerships for logistics, warehousing, single-window platforms, and corridor management services. PPP governance is standardized under OECD principles for value-for-money and integrity (open contracting, beneficial-ownership transparency, performance-based remuneration), with DESA finance-integrity instruments (DPFIP) incorporated into concession agreements. Affordability safeguards and public reporting obligations are declared conditions of award; non-performance triggers step-in clauses and sanction regimes.

Cost recovery and sustainability mechanisms are codified at corridor level: throughput-linked user fees, service fees for OSBP and single-window services, and corridor concessions calibrated to verified time/cost reductions. Transit operations utilize the COMESA Regional Customs Transit Guarantee (RCTG-Carnet) to reduce duplicative bonds and processing delays; single-window efficiencies and OSBP time savings (evidenced in the EAC Single Customs Territory and Chirundu OSBP experience) are monetized through measurable reductions in border-time and carrier costs and reinvested in corridor upkeep.



Digital trade enablers—interoperable single windows, e-certificates, e-invoicing, trusted digital identities, and cross-border payments—are financed under co-investment models with REC and national authorities, drawing technical assistance from WCO/UNCTAD single-window compendia and roadmaps and aligned with the AfCFTA Protocol on Digital Trade and its eight annexes. This ensures lawful, trusted, and scalable digital transactions for traders and SMEs, with corridor operators contractually obliged to meet cybersecurity and online-safety standards.

To anchor inclusion and equitable prosperity under Agenda for Social Equity 2074 and Agenda 2063, finance flows are conditioned on parity and SME-access metrics: dedicated SME tariff windows for single-window onboarding, discounted access to e-payments platforms, and gender/youth participation quotas in corridor governance. Corridor finance agreements record these obligations as binding covenants and assign independent verification bodies to audit compliance.

Monitoring, Evaluation, and Compliance (MEC)

The MEC regime of IAT-EIP is declaratory and enforceable. It binds AfCFTA/TFTA/TFA norms to corridor-level performance and mandates public disclosure, independent verification, and corrective action. MEC cycles operate quarterly (operational scorecards), annually (independent TRS-style assessments), and quinquennially (full compliance and impact reviews).

Performance canon and indicators. Key indicators are harmonized with AfCFTA rules of origin administration, Tripartite market-integration objectives, and TFA transparency and single-window provisions, and are disclosed on public dashboards:

KPI domain	Indicative measures (tracked per corridor and OSBP)	
Time & cost	Average border clearance time; average dwell time at ports/OSBPs; end-to-end corridor transit time; cost-to-trade index, all benchmarked against baseline TRS diagnostics and AfDB corridor targets.	
llemciency i	Risk-based inspection rate; pre-arrival processing share; single-submission/single-decision compliance; percentage of declarations filed via single window; mutual recognition of controls applied.	
	RoO certification turnaround; verification rate and cycle time; preference utilization rates by product/value chain, consistent with AfCFTA RoO Manual.	
guarantees	RCTG-Carnet utilization and claim cycle times; average stops per transit movement; bond-cost savings and incident rate.	
inclusion	SME share of corridor transactions; onboarding to digital payments; grievance submissions and resolution rates; gender/youth representation in corridor committees.	
	E-identity adoption; cross-border payment success/latency; data-transfer compliance incidents; cybersecurity/online-safety audit outcomes under AfCFTA digital annexes.	

Verification architecture and corrective action. Independent verification bodies accredited by RECs review corridor dashboards and sample case files. Non-performance against declared thresholds triggers corrective action plans under corridor contracts and, where applicable, suspension or



re-calibration of PPP remuneration. Origin disputes, valuation challenges, and transit incidents follow REC dispute-resolution channels and, for continental matters, AfCFTA procedures; Tripartite provisions control within the TFTA scope. WTO TFA publication duties are enforced via SDEP portals, with enquiry-point responsiveness tracked in the scorecards.

Transparency and public reporting. MEC mandates publication of procedures, forms, fees, and KPIs online and at border facilities in accordance with TFA Article 1 and single-window obligations under Article 10.4. Corridor scorecards disclose monthly time series for clearance and transit times, inspection rates, and NTB resolution, and publish disaggregated SME participation and inclusion metrics. Annual reports consolidate REC-level performance and incorporate AfDB corridor milestones and DLI outcomes to maintain coherence between finance and results.

Institutional compliance and audits. National Implementation Units (customs/trade ministries) certify legal transposition of AfCFTA/TFTA/TFA measures and maintain single-window connections; corridor committees audit OSBP performance and RCTG operations; REC directorates produce comparative corridor rankings and recommend remedial actions. The Tripartite entry into force (25 July 2024) is expressly noted in audit terms to ensure transposition obligations are tracked to legal effect.

Agenda alignment. MEC explicitly cross-walks corridor indicators to Agenda 2063 aspirations for integration, competitiveness, and youth/women empowerment and locks inclusion metrics to Agenda 2074 equity mandates. Compliance is not aspirational: affordability, SME access, and participation requirements are recorded as covenants, published, and subject to sanction on breach.

Risk Management and Sustainability Strategy

The risk framework for the Intra-African Trade and Economic Integration Project (IAT-EIP) is codified as an enforceable regime that anticipates, mitigates, and neutralizes threats across legal, operational, fiduciary, technological, environmental, and inclusion domains. Each risk category is paired with binding controls, independent verification, and corrective-action triggers, anchored in AfCFTA and TFTA legal instruments and WTO Trade Facilitation Agreement (TFA) obligations to ensure durability over the fifty-year horizon of Agenda for Social Equity 2074 and coherence with Agenda 2063.

Legal and policy fragmentation. Divergence in national procedures, rules of origin administration, and standards creates friction costs and legal uncertainty. IAT-EIP mitigates this by adopting AfCFTA legal texts—including Annex 2 and the Rules of Origin Manual—as the default continental rule-set, and by conforming Tripartite procedures (now legally operational since 25 July 2024) to those AfCFTA and TFA requirements. Corridor Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) therefore map to AfCFTA origin certification and verification, Tripartite provisions on harmonization, and TFA publication and single-window disciplines; non-conformities trigger time-bound remediation under corridor contracts.

Operational execution and capacity risk. Border agency capacity, inconsistent risk-management, and paper-based processes threaten service levels. IAT-EIP treats SDEP as the operational chassis for single window, risk-based inspections, pre-arrival processing, and paperless trade—conforming to TFA Article 10.4 and WCO/UNCTAD single-window guidance—and requires accredited skills pipelines (DTVET/EVHEI) for customs, standards, and corridor management. REC exemplars (EAC Single Customs Territory) and COMESA OSBPs/RCTG-Carnet are instituted as corridor minima to reduce queue time, bond costs, and duplications; recurrent bottlenecks are escalated to joint corridor committees with corrective actions linked to disbursement-linked indicators (DLIs).



Fiduciary and integrity risk. Complex PPPs for logistics, single windows, and corridor services face value-for-money and conflict-of-interest risks. The model embeds OECD PPP governance principles—open contracting, beneficial-ownership disclosure, performance-based remuneration—into concession instruments, and subjects all corridor procurements to DESA's DPFIP standards and public dashboards; non-performance or integrity breaches activate sanction regimes and step-in rights.

Digital trade, cybersecurity, and data-governance risk. Expanded data flows, e-payments, and paperless trade increase exposure to cyber incidents and legal uncertainty. Controls are provided by the AfCFTA Protocol on Digital Trade and its eight adopted annexes (digital IDs, cross-border payments, cross-border data transfers, online safety, source-code disclosure criteria, etc.), which IAT-EIP makes binding through corridor digital-trade clauses and platform audits; TFA publication/enquiry-point duties and WCO single-window practices are used to maintain transparency and due process.

Infrastructure and logistics reliability risk. Physical constraints (road/rail bottlenecks, port dwell times) can nullify procedural reforms. IAT-EIP therefore couples "soft" facilitation with "hard" corridor finance under AfDB regional strategies; corridor performance contracts tie disbursements to time and cost targets, consistent with AfDB evidence that cross-border corridors reduce transaction costs when paired with facilitation. Climate-resilient designs and OSBPs are prioritized, with redundancy planning for alternative routes.

Environmental and climate risk. Extreme weather and climate stress undermine corridor uptime and raise compliance liabilities. The sustainability plan obliges climate-resilient standards for highways and OSBPs, energy-efficient operations, and greenhouse-gas reporting, aligning with AfDB corridor guidance and SADC's industrialisation roadmap emphasis on value-chain resilience.

Equity and inclusion risk. If SMEs, women, and youth lack access to procedures, finance, or digital systems, reforms will concentrate gains. IAT-EIP remedies this by mandating SME access quotas for single-window onboarding and digital payments, publishing disaggregated KPIs, and codifying grievance redress; these obligations are covenanted in corridor finance documents and audited as part of Agenda 2074 compliance.

Sustainability architecture. Sustainability is institutionalized through: (i) statutory budget lines and REC coordination to prevent policy drift (Agenda 2063); (ii) blended finance tied to DLIs and corridor KPIs (AfDB RISPs and corridor programmes); (iii) enforceable PPP integrity clauses (OECD PPP); (iv) digital-trade compliance to continental annexes; and (v) public dashboards under TFA transparency norms. Together, these convert trade facilitation from a project into a standing, auditable public function over decades.

Alignment with GSIA and DESA

IAT-EIP is embedded in a dual governance—policy architecture that separates GSIA custodial oversight from DESA policy and operational instrumentation. This ensures legitimacy, compliance, and interoperability across the AfCFTA—TFTA space and national execution.

GSIA custodial governance (neutral oversight and enforceability).

GSIA serves as the neutral, multi-stakeholder custodian for corridor governance compacts. Accreditation requires enforceable provisions on transparency (TFA Article 1 publication and online access), participation (multi-stakeholder corridor committees), conflict-of-interest controls (beneficial-ownership disclosures), affordability safeguards for SMEs, and open-data reporting. This is consistent with international participation standards and with Tripartite and AfCFTA transparency



requirements. Periodic independent verification is mandated; non-compliance triggers sanction regimes embedded in corridor and PPP agreements.

DESA policy and operational instruments (the delivery stack).

DESA translates GSIA's guardrails into a complete, interoperable policy and delivery stack for trade facilitation and value-chain activation:

- DLRP (Legal Reform and Policy Harmonisation): Transposes AfCFTA/TFTA/TFA measures into national law, aligning customs, origin, transit, SPS/TBT procedures, and dispute channels to continental and Tripartite texts; ensures legal authority for single-window and risk-management provisions.
- **DPFIP** (**Public Finance and Procurement Integrity**): Imposes open contracting, beneficial-ownership transparency, and performance-based PPP remuneration for corridors, single windows, OSBPs, and logistics concessions, consistent with OECD PPP governance.
- **DGMP** (Governance Modernisation): Standardises performance compacts, digital case-management for NTBs and origin disputes, and public dashboards—meeting TFA transparency obligations and AfCFTA/TFTA reporting duties.
- **DMAP (Market Activation):** Onboards MSMEs to corridor markets and trusted-trader programmes; integrates AfCFTA Digital Trade Protocol disciplines for e-invoicing, e-payments, and lawful cross-border data exchange to cut fixed costs of market entry for SMEs.
- TFT and DBIP (Technology Enablement): Deploy single-window, risk-engine, e-certification, and interoperability layers; implement identity, payments, and data-transfer controls under AfCFTA digital annexes and WCO/UNCTAD single-window practice.
- **DTVET / EVHEI (Skills and Leadership):** Establish accredited training for customs, standards, and corridor operations (origin administration, risk management, post-clearance audit), mapped to AfCFTA RoO and WCO guidance to sustain lawful preference use.
- **ETI (Infrastructure):** Synchronises port, rail, road, dry-port, and OSBP investments with facilitation milestones, aligning AfDB corridor finance with corridor DLIs to ensure that added capacity yields verified time/cost reductions.
- SAP / EESG / ESA / CPIP (Value-chain depth, inclusion, and resilience): Integrate SPS-ready agro-value chains, SME finance and participation, climate-resilient logistics, and origin-linked branding into corridor plans—ensuring that market integration produces equitable, climate-aware dividends consistent with Agenda 2063's industrialisation pathway.

GSIA-DESA operating compact for IAT-EIP.

Under the compact, corridor accreditation is contingent on demonstrable alignment with DLRP/DPFIP/DGMP and on integration of TFT/DBIP/DTVET/ETI/DMAP in annual operating plans. MEC obligations require public disclosure of corridor KPIs—clearance times, dwell times, inspection rates, preference utilisation, transit reliability, SME share—on dashboards governed by TFA transparency norms, subject to independent verification and sanction where thresholds are not met. This ensures that AfCFTA/TFTA commitments are not merely ratified but executed, measured, and corrected in real tim



Final Word

IAT-EIP is framed as a lawful, long-horizon trade instrument that turns continental and Tripartite integration mandates into day-to-day practice along Africa's priority corridors. By binding AfCFTA and TFTA legal provisions on rules of origin, market integration, and dispute settlement to WTO Trade Facilitation Agreement disciplines on publication, single windows, and risk-based controls, the programme removes execution ambiguity and replaces it with enforceable, measurable obligations. The operational accelerator is SDEP, which standardizes diagnostics, digitization, accredited skills, and QA/QC across agencies, while the wider SLUC Major Programmes—TFT/DBIP, ETI, DTVET/EVHEI, DMAP, DPFIP/DGMP/DLRP, SAP/EESG/ESA/CPIP—supply technology, infrastructure, human capital, market access, fiduciary integrity, value-chain depth, and climate resilience so that facilitation gains translate into durable prosperity rather than episodic improvements.

Institutionally, the architecture is layered but coherent: AfCFTA legal texts provide the continental rule-set, the Tripartite Free Trade Area (in force since 25 July 2024) supplies the regional legal scaffolding among COMESA, EAC, and SADC, and REC exemplars—EAC Single Customs Territory, COMESA OSBPs and the RCTG-Carnet—offer proven templates for corridor performance and transit security. Financing couples AfDB's corridor programmes and Regional Integration Strategy Papers with "soft" facilitation reforms, using disbursement-linked indicators and public dashboards to keep time and cost reductions on record and to ensure accountability. In parallel, the AfCFTA Protocol on Digital Trade and its adopted annexes establish the lawful environment for e-identity, interoperable payments, trusted data flows, and online safety—crucial for SMEs and cooperatives to participate at scale in paperless trade.

Anchored to the fifty-year horizon of Agenda for Social Equity 2074 and harmonized with the aspirations and flagship projects of Agenda 2063, IAT-EIP positions trade facilitation and value-chain integration as standing public functions: transparent, inclusive, climate-aware, and subject to independent verification. In this construct, integration ceases to be a document and becomes a system—executed at corridor speed, governed by neutral oversight (GSIA), enabled by DESA's policy instruments, and audited against open, disaggregated scorecards. The outcome is not simply faster borders; it is lawful, equitable prosperity—shared across SMEs, farmers, and cooperatives, resilient to shocks, and compounding over decades through trusted continental trade.

References

- Tripartite Free Trade Area Entry into force (25 July 2024): <u>SADC news release</u> <u>COMESA</u> announcement [au.int], [agendas.world]
- **REC operational exemplars**: <u>EAC Single Customs Territory</u> <u>COMESA Trade Facilitation</u> (OSBPs; RCTG-Carnet) RCTG profile [thedocs.wo...ldbank.org], [un.org], [undp.org]
- AfDB corridors & regional integration: <u>EA-RISP</u> / trade facilitation focus <u>Cross-border road corridors report [sardc.net]</u>, [sadc.int]
- AfCFTA legal texts & Digital Trade Protocol: <u>AfCFTA Legal Texts</u> <u>Rules of Origin Manual</u> <u>Protocol on Digital Trade</u> <u>Annexes adopted (AU update) [afdb.org]</u>, <u>[peaceau.org]</u>, <u>[africanlii.org]</u>, <u>[SLUC Proje...rompt List | Word]</u>
- WTO Trade Facilitation Agreement (publication; single window): <u>TFA facility overview</u> Article 10.4—Single Window technical note [teaching.g...lumbia.edu], [pefa.org]
- Agenda 2063 AU portal: <u>Agenda 2063: The Africa We Want [au.int]</u>